RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 02-01-2018 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

Appeal No. 2017AP001851 CR

DEMARIO D. FLEMING,

Defendant-Appellant.

An Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction and Order from Milwaukee County Case No. 2016CF004146 Partially Granting Postconviction Motion for Additional Sentence Credit and Denying Motion to Modify No Contact Order entered by the Honorable Dennis R. Cimpl, Circuit Court, Branch 19,

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Milwaukee County

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether Mr. Fleming is entitled to sentence credit on this case for the time he spent in custody on Milwaukee County case 16 CF 566 for Armed Robbery that was dismissed when Mr. Fleming committed the intimidation of a witness offenses in this case while in custody for the armed robbery, he was sentenced for intimidating a witness from the armed robbery case and the judge considered the armed robbery when imposing his sentences for intimidation.
 - A. Circuit Court's Answer: No. Mr. Fleming is not entitled to credit in this case for the time he spent in custody solely in connection with the dismissed armed robbery charges in 16 CF 566 because Mr. Fleming's conduct in that case was not in connection with the course of conduct for which he was sentenced in this case.
- II. Whether the no contact condition of Mr. Fleming's extended supervision should be modified to allow contact with Moneeka Humphrey when they have a child together and Ms. Humphrey wants to have contact with Mr. Fleming.
 - B. Circuit Court's Answer: No. The no contact order with Moneeka Humphrey should not be modified

because the interests of justice must supersede
Ms. Humphrey's personal interests.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is unnecessary because the issues can be set forth fully in the briefs. Publication is unnecessary as the issues presented relate solely to the application of existing law to the facts of the record.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 12, 2016, Demario Fleming was charged by Criminal Complaint with two counts of Felony Intimidation of a Witness. (1:1, 5.) The Criminal Complaint alleged that on two occasions Mr. Fleming attempted to dissuade a witness, P.S., from giving testimony. (Id. at 1.)

At the time of the offenses, Mr. Fleming was in custody for charges of Armed Robbery in case 16 CF 566.

(Id. at 1-2.) The Armed Robbery charges were based on reports that four people from Pennsylvania were robbed at gunpoint on January 31, 2016 in Milwaukee by three young individuals. (Id. at 1.) Mr. Fleming was arrested for the armed robbery on the same day. (32:5.) One of the alleged victims in the armed robbery case was P.S. (1:2.)

The police obtained recorded jail phone calls made by Mr. Fleming to others in an attempt to dissuade P.S. from testifying. (*Id.* at 2-5.) Specifically, Count one was based on a phone call from Mr. Fleming to his girlfriend, Moneeka Humphrey, on February 6, 2016. (*Id.* at 1.) Count two was based on a phone call from Mr. Fleming to his mother on February 8, 2016. (*Id.*)

Mr. Fleming had an initial appearance on the present case on September 12, 2016 in which \$20,000.00 cash bail was set. (32:1, 12.) Subsequently, Mr. Fleming pled guilty

to both counts of Felony Intimidation of a Witness on February 14, 2017. (39:1, 4.) At the plea hearing, the State moved to dismiss the four Armed Robbery charges in 16 CF 566 without prejudice. (*Id.* at 13.) The circuit court then dismissed case 16 CF 566 without prejudice. (*Id.* at 13-14.)

At the sentencing hearing on February 15, 2017, Mr. Fleming still remained in custody and his trial attorney requested 380 days sentence credit from the date of Mr. Fleming's arrest on January 31, 2016 for the armed robbery to the sentencing date in the present case. (40:1, 30.) He argued that Mr. Fleming was entitled to sentence credit under Wis. Stat. § 973.155 for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which the sentence was imposed. (Id.)

The State asserted that Mr. Fleming was only entitled to sentence credit from the date of his initial appearance on this case of September 12, 2016. (Id.)

The circuit court sentenced Mr. Fleming on Count one to four years initial confinement and three years extended supervision with credit for 380 days. (*Id.* at 43.) The court noted "I don't know if [the State] is right or [Mr. Fleming's trial attorney] is right." (*Id.*)

On Count two, Mr. Fleming was sentenced to three years initial confinement and three years extended supervision, consecutive to Count one. (*Id.*) Further, as a condition of extended supervision, the court ordered no contact with Ms. Humphrey. (*Id.* at 42.) The court explained that it believed she was a victim in this case. (*Id.*) She had to run away because she was afraid of Mr. Fleming, she lost her job and the court had to issue a warrant for her when she did not come to court to testify in the armed robbery case. (*Id.* at 38, 42-43.)

In imposing the sentences, the court addressed Mr. Fleming and explained "There is no question you were the leader of that armed robbery crew. I am not going to sentence you for the armed robbery. I can't. I wish I could. I'm sentencing you for the intimidation of a witness. But I can and do consider your role in those armed robberies and the games you were playing with regard to those armed robberies." (Id. at 37-38.)

On May 3, 2017, the Department of Corrections sent a letter to the circuit court requesting that the court review the Judgment of Conviction for the sentence credit that was ordered in this case. (22.) The DOC indicated that the offense occurred on February 6, 2016 and the sentencing date was February 15, 2017 which was 375 days later.

Therefore, "it appears the Court granted more jail credit than allowed per Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)." (Id.)

On May 8 2017, the circuit court issued an Order Amending the Judgment of Conviction. (23.) The order indicated that the Criminal Complaint was filed on September 14, 2016 and a cash bond was set on the same date. (*Id.*) The court went on to say that Mr. Fleming was sentenced on February 15, 2017. (*Id.*) The circuit court then ordered that the Judgment of Conviction be amended to reflect 154 days of sentence credit. (*Id.*)

Mr. Fleming subsequently filed a Postconviction Motion arguing that he is entitled to 381 days of sentence credit pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a) from the date of his arrest on January 31, 2016 in the armed robbery case 16 CF 566 to his sentencing date in the present case of February 15, 2017. (27:1-5.)

Alternatively, Mr. Fleming argued that he is entitled to 375 days of sentence credit from the date of the offense in Count one of this case, February 6, 2016, to the sentencing date of February 15, 2017. (*Id.* at 5.)

Mr. Fleming also indicated in the postconviction motion that if his request was denied and the court based his sentence credit from the date of his initial appearance on this case, that the correct date of his initial

appearance was on September 12, 2016, not on September 14, 2016 as noted by the court in the Order Amending the Judgment of Conviction. (Id. at 4-5.)

Finally, Mr. Fleming also argued that the no contact condition of extended supervision should be modified to allow contact with Ms. Humphrey as they have a one year old daughter together and both Mr. Fleming and Ms. Humphrey want to have contact with each other. (Id. at 6.)

The circuit court filed a Decision and Order Partially Granting Postconviction Motion for Additional Sentence Credit and Denying Motion to Modify No Contact Order. (28.) The court denied Mr. Fleming's request to grant him sentence credit from his arrest date of January 31, 2016 in the armed robbery case. (Id. at 1-2.) The court concluded that Mr. Fleming's conduct in the armed robbery case was not in connection with the course of conduct for which he was sentenced in this case. (Id.)

The court also denied Mr. Fleming's request for sentence credit from the date of the offense in Count one. (Id. at 2.) The court explained that custody did not occur until his initial appearance when cash bail was set on September 12, 2016. (Id.)

The court only granted Mr. Fleming an additional two days sentence credit as his initial appearance was on

September 12, 2016 and not on September 14, 2016 as initially indicated in the Order Amending Judgment of Conviction. (*Id.* at 1.)

The court also denied Mr. Fleming's motion to modify the no contact order with Ms. Humphrey. (Id. at 2-3.) The court explained that it stands by the determination for the no contact order for the reasons set forth in the record. (Id. at 2.) Mr. Fleming now appeals the circuit court's order denying postconviction relief.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Mr. Fleming bears the burden of demonstrating that he is entitled to additional sentence credit under Wis. Stat. \$ 973.155(1). State v. Carter, 2010 WI 77, \$ 11, 327 Wis. 2d 1, 7, 785 N.W.2d 516, 519. Interpretation and application of Wis. Stat. \$ 973.155(1) to the facts of this case is a question of law that this Court determines independently of the circuit court. Id. at \$ 12.

In reviewing whether the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in ordering Mr. Fleming to have no contact with Ms. Humphrey, this Court will uphold a circuit court's discretionary decision as long as the court "examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, and, using a demonstrated rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." State v.

Roach, 2012 WI App 73, ¶ 10, 342 Wis. 2d 251, 816 N.W.2d 352 citing LeMere v. LeMere, 2003 WI 67, ¶ 13, 262 Wis.2d 426, 663 N.W.2d 789.

ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse the circuit court's decision that Mr. Fleming is not entitled to sentence credit on this case for the time he spent in custody on the armed robbery case. "A convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his...sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a).

Mr. Fleming is entitled to sentence credit for the time he spent in custody on the armed robbery case because it is in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed. Although the armed robbery case was dismissed, Mr. Fleming was convicted of intimidating a witness from the armed robbery case, he took responsibility for the armed robbery at sentencing for the intimidation convictions and the circuit court considered the armed robbery when imposing the prison sentences for intimidation.

Additionally, this Court should reverse the circuit court's decision that the no contact order with Ms.

Humphrey should not be modified. Mr. Fleming and Ms.

Humphrey both want to have contact with each other in order to facilitate communication and visitation with their one year old daughter.

I. THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DECISION DENYING MR. FLEMING'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR ADDITIONAL SENTENCE CREDIT FOR THE TIME HE WAS IN CUSTODY ON THE ARMED ROBBERY CASE BECAUSE IT IS IN CONNECTION WITH THE COURSE OF CONDUCT FOR WHICH SENTENCE WAS IMPOSED.

Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a) provides that "a convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his...sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." "The provisions of the sentence credit law, Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1), are mandatory." Carter, 2010 WI 77 at ¶ 51. "A sentencing court must give credit accorded by statute because 'a person may not serve more time than that for which he is sentenced.'" Id.

In applying Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a) to the present case, it is not disputed that Mr. Fleming was in custody from the day he was arrested for armed robbery charges on January 31, 2016 until the day he was sentenced in this case on February 15, 2017. (32:5; 40:1, 30.) Instead, the issue is whether the days Mr. Fleming spent in custody on the armed robbery were "in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed."

In order to be "in connection with" there must be a factual connection between the custody and the conduct for which sentence was imposed. Carter, 2010 WI 77 at ¶¶ 56-57. In this case, there is a factual connection between Mr. Fleming's custody and the conduct for which sentence was imposed.

Mr. Fleming was arrested on January 31, 2016 for charges of armed robbery. (32:5.) He was subsequently charged in Milwaukee County case 16 CF 566 for Armed Robbery. (1:1-2.) He was in custody for the armed robbery charges when he committed the offenses in the present case. (Id.) On February 6, 2016 and February 8, 2016 Mr. Fleming made phone calls to Ms. Humphrey and to his mother from the jail that were recorded in which he attempted to dissuade P.S. from testifying in the armed robbery case. (Id. at 1-5.) P.S. was one of the alleged victims in the armed robbery case. (Id. at 2.)

Mr. Fleming was subsequently charged with two counts of Felony Intimidation of a Witness on September 12, 2016. (Id. at 5.) On that same day, Mr. Fleming had his initial appearance in which cash bail was set. (32:1, 12.) Mr. Fleming later pled guilty to both counts of Felony Intimidation of a Witness on February 14, 2017. (39:1, 4.)

On the same day, the State moved to dismiss the four armed robbery charges in 16 CF 566 without prejudice. (*Id.* at 13.) The State also noted "that this was not dismissed as any part of any kind of a resolution of the case for sentencing." (*Id.*)

Based on the State's motion, the circuit court dismissed 16 CF 566 without prejudice and noted that it was not part of any negotiation. (Id. at 13-14.)

On February 15, 2017, Mr. Fleming was sentenced on the present case. (40:1.) At sentencing, Mr. Fleming addressed the court and apologized for his actions and took responsibility for his behavior. (*Id.* at 33.) The court specifically asked Mr. Fleming whether he was taking responsibility for the armed robberies. (*Id.*) Mr. Fleming responded "I can take responsibility for them too." (*Id.*) The court replied "you can?" (*Id.*)

Mr. Fleming stated "I do, actually. I accept the consequences that come behind it. Because, you know, they are my actions." (Id.)

The court went on to explain the goals of sentencing Mr. Fleming, including punishment, deterrence and providing for Mr. Fleming's rehabilitative needs. (*Id.* at 34.) The court addressed the nature of the crime, need to protect the community and Mr. Fleming's character. (*Id.* at 36-37.)

However, the court also considered the armed robbery. (Id. at 37-38.) The court stated:

There is no question you were the leader of that armed robbery crew. I am not going to sentence you for the armed robbery. I can't. I wish I could. I'm sentencing you for the intimidation of a witness. But I can and do consider your role in those armed robberies and the games you were playing with regard to those armed robberies.

(Id. at 37-38.) After imposing prison sentences, the court found Mr. Fleming ineligible for the Challenge Incarceration Program and the Substance Abuse Program "because of the nature of this crime, intimidation of a witness, because of the fact that it was successful in keeping [him] from being convicted for four armed robberies that [he took] responsibility for here..." (Id. at 44.)

Based on the facts of this case, the nature of the offenses and the court's consideration of the armed robbery in imposing Mr. Fleming's sentences in this case, his custody for armed robbery was in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed. Therefore, he should be entitled to sentence credit from the date he was arrested on the armed robbery even though the armed robbery case was dismissed and not read-in.

In State v. Floyd, 2000 WI 14, \P 32, 232 Wis. 2d 767, 779, 606 N.W.2d 155, 161, the court held that "pre-trial confinement on a dismissed charge that is read in at

sentencing relates to 'an offense for which the offender is ultimately sentenced.'" The court did limit it's holding to charges that are dismissed and read in at sentencing by noting that there is an important distinction between readins and other charges, including dismissals. Id. at ¶¶ 30-31.

The court explained that "read-ins constitute admissions by the defendant to those charges." Id. at ¶ 25. Read-ins are considered by the sentencing court as part of the defendant's conduct in determining the appropriate sentence. Id. There is also "exposure to the risk of a lengthier sentence as a result of consideration by the court of read-in charges." Id. at ¶ 26. The court indicated that read-ins stand apart from other charges that may be considered by a sentencing court because "the implication is that more weight is placed in the admitted charges than on unproven or acquitted offenses." Id. at ¶ 27.

However, the dismissed charges of armed robbery in this case had the same effect as a read-in as the court described in *Floyd*. Mr. Fleming admitted to the armed robberies at the sentencing hearing and took responsibility for them. (40:33.) The court specifically considered the armed robberies as part of Mr. Fleming's conduct in determining the appropriate sentence. (*Id.* at 37-38, 44.)

Mr. Fleming was also exposed to the risk of a lengthier sentence as a result of the court considering the armed robberies. Finally, although the armed robbery charges were dismissed and therefore unproven, read-in charges are also unproven.

The court in Floyd stressed that the distinction between read-in charges and dismissed charges was that more weight is placed on admitted charges than unproven or acquitted offenses. Floyd, 2000 WI 14 at \P 27. However, Mr. Fleming did admit to the armed robbery at the sentencing hearing even though the case was dismissed.

Therefore, there is no distinction in this case between whether the armed robbery charges were dismissed or dismissed and read-in because regardless of the label it had the same effect.

Mr. Fleming should not be deprived of receiving sentence credit for 225 days that he was held in custody from January 31, 2016 to the date of his initial appearance on this case of September 12, 2016 simply because the armed robbery was dismissed and not read-in.

Although the court in *State v. Piggue*, 2016 WI App 13, ¶ 1, 366 Wis. 2d 605, 606-07, 875 N.W.2d 663, 663-64, *review denied*, 2016 WI 78, ¶ 1, 371 Wis. 2d 607, 885 N.W.2d 379 held that a defendant was not entitled to

additional sentence credit for the time he spent in custody awaiting trial for a sexual assault charge that he was acquitted of but convicted of witness intimidation, the case is distinguishable from the present case.

In *Piggue*, the defendant was charged with felony intimidation. Id. at \P 2. He was on trial a month earlier for sexual assault and he instructed his girlfriend via phone calls and letters to contact the victim to convince her not to testify. Id. Piggue was later acquitted of the sexual assault. Id. at \P 4. But he pled guilty to the felony intimidation. Id. at \P 3. At the sentencing hearing for the felony intimidation, the State discussed the sexual assault charge. Id. at \P 4.

The circuit court sentenced Piggue to prison and did not award him any credit for the time he spent in custody for the sexual assault charge. Id. at \P 6. In imposing the sentence, the court discussed the sexual assault trial, but explained that the primary factor driving the sentence was the gravity of the offense of intimidation. Id.

The facts in Piggue are distinguishable from the present case. In Piggue, the defendant was acquitted. Piggue, 2016 WI App 13 at \P 4. He did not admit or accept responsibility for the sexual assault at the sentencing

hearing for the intimidation of a witness conviction. See Id. at 5.

Whereas in the present case, the armed robbery charges were dismissed, Mr. Fleming was not acquitted at trial. He never had the opportunity to have his day in court.

Instead, he was held in custody for over one year, 380 days, from the time he was arrested on January 31, 2016 until the case was ultimately dismissed by the State on February 14, 2017.

Further, Mr. Fleming admitted to the armed robbery and took responsibility for his actions. (40:33.) The trial court specifically considered the armed robbery and Mr. Fleming's admissions when imposing the prison sentences. (Id. at 37-38, 44.)

After Piggue's sentencing, he filed a postconviction motion requesting eighty-four days of sentence credit for the time he spent in custody for the sexual assault charge. Id. at \P 7. The court denied the motion and he appealed. Id.

Piggue argued that the trial court considered the sexual assault charge in imposing his sentence for the witness intimidation conviction and therefore he should be given credit for the time he spent in custody for the sexual assault case. Id. at ¶ 10. In support of his

argument, he also cited to *Floyd* and noted that "the *Floyd* court based its decision in part on the premise that a read-in constitutes an admission, but that has since been withdrawn in *State v. Straszkowski*, 2008 WI 65, ¶¶ 58, 91-95, 310 Wis. 2d 259, 750 N.W.2d 835.

The court in *Piggue* explained that "even though Straszkowski may have clarified that read-ins are not to be construed as admissions, the fact is that read-ins are still distinguishable from acquittals and non-read-in dismissals." Id. at ¶ 13. In supporting this proposition the court cited See Floyd, 232 Wis. 2d 767, ¶¶ 26-27, 606 N.W.2d 155 (acquittals may be considered at sentencing; read-ins are considered at sentencing and thus carry more weight). Id.

However, Floyd does not support that proposition. The court in Floyd stated that "By their very nature, read-ins stand apart from other charges that may be considered by a sentencing court. The implication is that more weight is placed on the admitted charges than on unproven or acquitted offenses." Floyd, 2000 WI 14 at \P 27.

The court did not suggest that read-ins "are" considered at sentencing whereas other charges "may" be considered. See *Id*. Instead, the court expressly stated that the distinction between read-ins and other charges is

that read-ins are "admitted" charges and more weight is placed on admitted charges than unproven or acquitted offenses. Id.

However, the court in *State v. Straszkowski*, 2008 WI 65, ¶ 5, 310 Wis. 2d 259, 264, 750 N.W.2d 835, 838 expressly clarified that "no admission of guilt from a defendant for sentencing purposes is required (or should be deemed) for a read-in charge to be considered for sentencing purposes and to be dismissed." The court specifically held "that no admission of guilt from a defendant is required for a read-in offense to be dismissed and considered for sentencing purposes...." *Id.* at ¶ 6.

The holding in Straszkowski expressly and directly goes against the reasoning given by the court in Floyd as to why dismissed and read-in charges are distinguishable from other charges that are dismissed. See Floyd, 2000 WI 14 at \P 27 ("By their very nature, read-ins stand apart from other charges that may be considered by a sentencing court. The implication is that more weight is placed on the admitted charges than on unproven or acquitted offenses.")

Additionally, the court in *Straszkowski* specifically stated that "a circuit should advise a defendant that it 'may' consider read-in charges when imposing sentence but that the maximum penalty of the charged offense will not be

increased." Straszkowski, 2008 WI 65 at ¶ 5 (Emphasis added). There is no requirement that a sentencing court must consider dismissed and read-in charges at the time of sentencing. See Id.

Instead, a sentencing court "may" consider dismissed and read-in charges at the time of sentencing just as the court "may" consider charges that were dismissed. See Id.; See State v. Frey, 2012 WI 99, ¶ 40, 343 Wis. 2d 358, 374, 817 N.W.2d 436, 444. (A circuit court can consider charges that have been dismissed outright when imposing a sentence). Therefore, there is no distinction between a sentencing court considering a dismissed and read-in charge and a dismissed charge when imposing a sentence.

Although the court in Floyd limited it's holding to apply to charges that are dismissed and read-in, the distinction made between read-ins and other dismissed charges has been subsequently withdrawn in Straszkowski. Although the distinction between read-ins and other dismissed charges has been withdrawn in Straszkowski, the ultimate holding in Floyd that defendants are entitled to sentence credit for dismissed and read-in charges is still good law.

And the reasons given by the court in *Floyd* to support its holding, that read-ins can be considered by a court in

imposing a sentence and therefore a defendant's exposure to the risk of a lengthier sentence as a result of considering read-ins, can still be applied to this case. The sentencing court in this case did consider the dismissed armed robbery charges and therefore Mr. Fleming was exposed to the risk of a lengthier sentence. Especially considering that Mr. Fleming admitted to the armed robbery charges and took responsibility for it.

Not only was Mr. Fleming punished for the intimidation of a witness convictions, but he was also punished for the armed robbery. (Id.) If a sentencing court is permitted to consider a dismissed charge that is connected to the conduct for which sentence is imposed, then a defendant should be permitted to receive sentence credit for the time he was held in custody for that dismissed charge.

Mr. Fleming was sentenced to a total of seven years in prison based in part on the armed robbery. He should be entitled to receive credit for the time he spent in custody on the armed robbery. Mr. Fleming only received sentence credit from the date of his initial appearance on this case of September 12, 2016 to the date he was sentenced on February 15, 2017. (28:1.)

However, Mr. Fleming is entitled to an additional 225 days of sentence credit from the day he was arrested on the

armed robbery charges, January 31, 2016, to the day of his initial appearance on the present case, September 12, 2016 because the custody is in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed.

Alternatively, if the Court did not award the aforementioned sentence credit, Mr. Fleming should receive an additional 219 days of sentence credit from the date of the offense in Count one of this case, February 6, 2016, to the day of his initial appearance on September 12, 2016.

Mr. Fleming was in custody at the time he committed Count one in this case and he was ultimately sentenced for his conduct of intimidation of a witness that occurred on February 6, 2016.

Although he was being held in custody at the time for armed robbery, the armed robbery is in connection with the intimidation of a witness convictions and Mr. Fleming was sentenced based on the intimidation of a witness and the armed robbery.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DECISION DENYING MR. FLEMING'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION TO MODIFY THE NO CONTACT ORDER WITH MONEEKA HUMPHREY BECAUSE SHE WANTS TO HAVE CONTACT WITH HIM, THEY HAVE A CHILD TOGETHER AND THE NO CONTACT IS NOT IN THE INTEREST OF PUBLIC PROTECTION.

At the sentencing hearing, the Court ordered that Mr. Fleming have no contact with Moneeka Humphrey. (40:42.)

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.049(2), when imposing a sentence on an individual, a court has discretion to "prohibit the individual from contacting victims of, witnesses to, or co-actors in, a crime considered at sentencing during any part of the individual's sentence or period of probation if the court determines that the prohibition would be in the interest of public protection." The sentencing court may also determine who the victims or witnesses to any crime are. *Id*.

At sentencing, the court explained that it believed that Ms. Humphrey was a victim in this case. (40:42.) The court stated that she had to run away because she was afraid of Mr. Fleming, she lost her job and the court had to issue a warrant for her when she did not appear to testify in the armed robbery case. (*Id.* at 38, 42-43.)

However, Ms. Humphrey is not a victim in this case.

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