RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-31-2018

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1851-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DEMARIO D. FLEMING,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING SENTENCE CREDIT IN PART AND DENYING MODIFICATION OF A CONDITION OF NO CONTACT, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DENNIS R. CIMPL, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Fleming is not entitled to sentence credit for time spent in custody before he was charged with the victim intimidation offense.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.155(1)(a) reads in pertinent part: "A convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a).

Section 973.155(1)(a) is mandatory, not discretionary. Ward, 153 Wis. 2d at 745. Sentence credit must be awarded if: (1) the defendant was in custody; and (2) that period in custody was in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed. State v. Beiersdorf, 208 Wis. 2d 492, 496, 561 N.W.2d 749 (Ct. App. 1997). When alleging that sentence credit was improperly calculated, the defendant bears the burden of proving that he is entitled to additional sentence credit. *State v. Villalobos*, 196 Wis. 2d 141, 148, 537 N.W.2d 139 (Ct. App. 1995).

In this case, there is no dispute that Fleming was in custody. The only question is whether he should be awarded credit for time spent in custody on a charge that was dismissed outright. The answer to that question is no. Fleming relies heavily on *Floyd*, 232 Wis. 2d 767, to support his arguments, but his reading of *Floyd* is flawed.

This case is controlled by State v. Piggue, 2016 WI App 13, 366 Wis. 2d 605, 875 N.W.2d 663, which addressed the arguments that Fleming raises. Like Fleming, Piggue was convicted of witness intimidation. Id. ¶ 1. Like Fleming, Piggue was awaiting trial on another charge when he intimidated a victim. Id. Like Fleming, Piggue argued that because the sentencing court considered the other charge when sentencing him on the intimidation charge, he should receive sentence credit for the time spent in custody for that charge, as well. Id. The only difference between Piggue and Fleming is that Piggue was acquitted because of proof issues and Fleming was never tried because of proof issues. For sentence credit purposes, that distinction does not matter.

Like Fleming, Piggue acknowledged that *Floyd* limited credit for other offenses to read-in offenses, but argued that this Court should expand *Floyd*. *Piggue*, 366 Wis. 2d 605, ¶ 12. Like Fleming, Piggue argued that *Straszkowski*, 310 Wis. 2d 259, ¶¶ 58, 91–95, ended the distinction between read-in offenses and dismissal or acquittals because that case established that read-ins do not require an admission of guilt. *Piggue*, 366 Wis. 2d 605, ¶ 12. Like Fleming, Piggue also argued that there was a factual connection between the two charges because he intimidated the witnesses of the crime for which he was in custody. *Piggue*, 366 Wis. 2d 605, ¶ 12.

This Court was not persuaded by Piggue's arguments, and it should not be persuaded by Fleming's. As this Court concluded, "[e]ven though *Straszkowski* may have clarified that read-ins are not to be construed as admissions, the fact is that read-ins are still distinguishable from acquittals and non-read-in dismissals." *Id.* ¶ 13. This Court was correct. Read-in offenses are unique because the implication of a read-in is that the *defendant agrees* that, as a part of the resolution of the case, the read-in offenses can *increase his punishment. Floyd*, 232 Wis. 2d 767, ¶ 26; *State v. Frey*, 2012 WI 99, ¶¶ 68–73, 343 Wis. 2d 358, 817 N.W.2d 436.

Fleming argues that because he admitted to the robbery at the sentencing hearing, the dismissed charge is indistinguishable from a read-in charge. (Fleming's Br. 13.) This is not true. The implication of a read-in charge is that the defendant agrees that the charge can increase his punishment. That same implication does not exist with charges that have been dismissed without prejudice. The dismissed robbery charge in this case was not a part of the resolution agreement between the State and Fleming. (R. 40:13.) Everyone agreed that the dismissed robbery charges could not effect Fleming's sentence. (R. 41:6, 32, 37–38.)

Fleming nonetheless asserts that he was punished for the robbery offenses. (Fleming Br. 19.) That is also not true. The sentencing court acknowledged that it could not increase Fleming's punishment based upon his admission to the robbery charge. (R. 41:37–38.) Rather, the court considered the role Fleming played in the robbery offense as a relevant sentencing factor. (R. 41:38.) This was proper. "[I]t is well-known that '[a] sentencing court may consider uncharged and unproven offenses and facts related to offenses for which the defendant has been acquitted."" Piggue, 366 Wis. 2d 605, ¶ 13 (citing State v. Leitner, 2002 WI 77, ¶ 45, 253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341). Considering uncharged or unproven offenses at sentencing does not convert those offenses to read-in offenses. Piggue, 366 Wis. 2d 605, ¶ 13.

While Fleming did accept responsibility for the robbery at sentencing, he did so not to consent to increased punishment. Rather, he was hoping the court would be lenient. (R. 41:34.) He was trying to persuade the court that his motivation for the intimidation offenses was to beat the robbery charge so he could be a part of his daughter's life. (R. 41:34.) The dismissed charges in this case are far from the functional equivalent of read-in offenses.

Furthermore, as this Court concluded in *Piggue*, the factual connection and the circumstances of victim intimidation are not sufficient to warrant sentence credit. *Piggue*, 366 Wis. 2d 605, ¶ 13. If they were, courts would be rewarding offenders for successful intimidation attempts. Fleming tries to distinguish *Piggue* by arguing that Piggue had his day in court and Fleming did not. (Fleming's Br. 15.) That is flawed reasoning and a rather bold assertion seeing that Fleming was not tried because he successfully intimidated the victims to not testify against him.

Like Piggue, Fleming is asking this Court to extend the reasoning of *Floyd* to non-read-in offenses. The *Floyd* court outright rejected that argument. *Floyd*, 232 Wis. 2d 767, ¶ 31. The *Floyd* court specifically limited its holding to read-in charges, concluding that there is an "important distinction between read-ins and other charges, including pending charges, acquittals or dismissals." *Id*. That remains true. Whether the *Floyd* court's rationale regarding an admission of guilt tangentially supports an award of sentence credit in Fleming's case is of no significance. Sentence credit is not available because *Floyd* itself limited the availability of credit for other offenses to read-in offenses.

The supreme court has not overruled Floyd's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a) as not authorizing sentence credit for charges dismissed outright. *Piggue* clearly articulated that Floyd's limitation on sentence credit to read-in offense remains good law. *Piggue*, 366 Wis. 2d 605, ¶ 13. Fleming is not entitled to credit for the time he spent in custody on the robbery charges.

Fleming alternatively argues that he is entitled to credit from the date of his first intimidation offense as opposed to the date he was formally confined for that offense. Fleming makes this argument in a single paragraph with no citation to any authority that supports his position. (Fleming's Br. 20.) This Court should decline to consider this argument,² but if it does, it should reject it. If the defendant would have been in custody regardless of the alleged new conduct, the defendant is not treated unfairly by not receiving credit for that time. *See State v. Johnson*, 2007 WI 107, ¶ 70, 304 Wis. 2d 318, 735 N.W.2d 505. Fleming is not entitled to additional sentence credit.

II. The court-imposed condition of no contact with M.H. is reasonable and appropriate under the circumstances.

"Sentencing courts have wide discretion and may impose any conditions of probation or supervision that appear to be reasonable and appropriate." *Stewart*, 291 Wis. 2d 480, ¶ 11. "A condition is reasonably related to the person's rehabilitation 'if it assists the convicted individual

² See State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646–47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (The court generally does not consider undeveloped arguments.).

in conforming his or her conduct to the law." State v. Rowan, 2012 WI 60, ¶ 10, 341 Wis. 2d 281, 814 N.W.2d 854 (quoting State v. Oakley, 2001 WI 103, ¶ 21, 245 Wis. 2d 447, 629 N.W.2d 200). "It is also appropriate for circuit courts to consider an end result of encouraging lawful conduct, and thus increased protection of the public, when determining what individualized . . . conditions are appropriate for a particular person." *Id*.

Here, Fleming complains that the court's order that he have no contact with M.H. affects the ease with which he can arrange visitation with his daughter. (Fleming's Br. 22.) The State fails to understand how the added complexity in visitation transforms the no contact order with M.H. into one that is unreasonable and inappropriate under the circumstances.

There is no doubt that Fleming used M.H. in an attempt to subvert the criminal justice system. There is also sufficient circumstantial evidence to suggest that M.H. suffered adverse consequences due to her involvement with Fleming and may have been the victim of intimidation herself. This condition works to dissuade Fleming from further intimidating M.H. if the State reissues the dismissed robbery charge, thereby encouraging Fleming's rehabilitation.

Wisconsin courts have considerable latitude in setting conditions of extended supervision. *State v. Miller*, 2005 WI App 114, ¶ 11, 283 Wis. 2d 465, 701 N.W.2d 47. Under the circumstances of this case, the condition of no contact with M.H. is reasonable and appropriate and not an erroneous exercise of discretion.

CONCLUSION

For the forgoing reasons, this Court should affirm the circuit court order denying relief.